# UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT EASTERN DISTRICT OF LOUISIANA

:		
CLAIRE BROU, et al.,		
Plaintiffs,	) Case No.: 06-0838	
V.	) ) JUDGE DUVAL	
FEDERAL EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT AGENCY, et al.,	) MAGISTRATE JUDO ) KNOWLES	ξE
Defendants.	) )	

#### SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT

This Settlement Agreement ("Settlement Agreement" or "Agreement") is entered into between Plaintiffs Claire Brou, Darlene Crosby (next friend of P.D., a minor), Willie Foster, Donna Graffagnino, Carla Hagler, Robert Thomas Harris, Eugene Johnson, Victoria Sumrall, Terry West, Anita Wilson, Martha Bryant, Cherie LeBlanc, Ronald Levron, Wanda Newbill, and Dora Villanueva, on behalf of themselves and a class of other similarly situated disabled persons who have been displaced by Hurricanes Katrina and Rita ("Plaintiffs"), and the defendants Federal Emergency Management Agency ("FEMA"), Department of Homeland Security ("DHS"), Michael Chertoff, Secretary, Department of Homeland Security, and David Paulison, Director, Federal Emergency Management Agency, ("Defendants"). Plaintiffs and Defendants are referred to herein as "the Parties."

On February 17, 2006, Plaintiffs filed this action in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Louisiana (the "District Court"). Plaintiffs allege in their complaint that the Defendants have violated section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act ("Section 504"), 29 U.S.C. § 794(a), the Fair Housing Act ("FHA"), 42 U.S.C. § 3604, and the Stafford Act, 42 U.S.C.

§ 5170 et seq., by denying equal and meaningful access to the temporary housing assistance program for victims of Hurricane Katrina and Hurricane Rita who have disabilities. Defendants maintain that FEMA's temporary housing assistance program has been and continues to be operated in compliance with all applicable laws, deny that they have violated any of the above statutes, and further deny that plaintiffs are entitled to any relief in this action.

The Parties mutually desire to resolve all of the claims asserted by Plaintiffs in this action without the need for further litigation, and without any admission of liability by any party.

Accordingly, the Parties hereby agree to compromise, settle and resolve all of the claims asserted by Plaintiffs in this action on the following terms and conditions:

- 1. **Definitions:** The following terms, when used in this Settlement Agreement, shall have the following meanings:
- Section 1.1 "Person with a disability" means a "qualified individual with a handicap" and a "qualified individual with a disability" as those terms are defined in Section 504, 29 U.S.C. §§ 705(20) and 794(a), and FEMA's implementing regulations, 44 C.F.R. § 16.103; and has a "handicap" as that term is defined in the FHA, 42 U.S.C. § 3602(h).
- Section 1.2 "Applicant" means a person who has applied for assistance under the Stafford Act pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 5174.
- Section 1.3 "Unit" means manufactured housing of any kind, and includes a travel trailer, mobile home, or Park model trailer.
- Section 1.4 "Currently in Stock" means in FEMA's possession or subject to its control as of the date a call, which would result in the provision of the particular unit in question, is made to the special toll-free number referred to in paragraph 5.

Section 1.5 "UFAS" means the Uniform Federal Accessibility Standards published at 49 Fed. Reg. 31528 (Aug. 7, 1984) and <a href="http://www.access-board.gov/ufas/ufas-html/ufas.htm">http://www.access-board.gov/ufas/ufas-html/ufas.htm</a>.

Section 1.6 "Accessible Unit" means (A) a Unit that complies with all UFAS requirements except for those standards that have been amended, modified or waived by HUD; or (B) accessible mobile homes or Park Model trailers which do not satisfy all UFAS requirements but have been altered or modified to accommodate the accessibility needs of Class Members.

Section 1.7 "Install" or "Provide" means either (i) to deliver an Accessible Unit, with any necessary modifications to ensure that it is, in fact, an Accessible Unit, to the Person With a Disability requesting the Unit or (ii) to make the modifications to a Unit that has already been delivered to, or is currently occupied by, a Person With a Disability, such that the Unit is an Accessible Unit. However, when a Unit is installed on a private or commercial site that is not operated by FEMA, the terms "Install" or "Provide" shall not include the provision of fully functioning utilities other than the completion of all steps that FEMA normally takes to facilitate the provision of such utilities. This section refers solely to FEMA's obligations under this Agreement and shall not waive, alter, or otherwise affect the scope of FEMA's obligations under 42 U.S.C. § 5174.

- 2. Persons Covered By Agreement: The class of persons covered by and eligible to obtain the benefits of this Agreement (hereinafter referred to as "Class Members") is defined as all individuals who:
  - A. As of August 29, 2005, resided in Louisiana or Mississippi in areas declared to be Federal Disaster Areas as a result of Hurricane Katrina; or as of September 24, 2005, resided in Louisiana in areas declared to be Federal Disaster Areas as a result of Hurricane Rita; and

- B. Were displaced from their pre-disaster primary residence or whose pre-disaster primary residences have been rendered uninhabitable as a result of damage caused by Hurricane Katrina or Hurricane Rita; and
- C. Are in receipt of, or who qualify or will qualify for, direct assistance pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 5174(c)(1)(B); and
- D. Are Persons with Disabilities; and
- E. Have informed or will inform Defendants of their need for a Unit that accommodates their disabilities, but who have not received a Unit with the requested accessibility features.
- 3. Claims Covered By The Agreement: The claims compromised, settled and resolved by this Agreement, which are hereinafter referred to as the "Class Claims," include any individual or class-wide disability discrimination claim, administrative charge, demand, grievance, complaint, right and cause of action of any kind, known or unknown, by a Class Member against FEMA or DHS for monetary, injunctive or equitable relief and/or for attorney's fees, arising from any events, acts, omissions, policies, practices, procedures, conditions or occurrences concerning or relating to FEMA's direct temporary housing assistance program that were raised in paragraphs 159-164 of the Complaint filed in this action on February 17, 2006, or such claims that arise within 210 days after the beginning of the Notice Period described in paragraph 4 below.
- 4. Accessibility Notice: Over a thirty day period commencing 10 days after the Court enters an Order finally approving this Agreement and ending 40 days after the date of such Order (hereinafter the "Notice Period"), FEMA shall disseminate an informational notice in the form prescribed in Attachment A hereto regarding the provision of temporary housing that is accessible to Persons with Disabilities ("the Accessibility Notice"). The purpose of the Accessibility Notice is to emphasize that FEMA is committed to ensuring that individuals with disabilities have meaningful access to its temporary housing assistance programs, to ensure that

the needs of victims of Hurricane Katrina and Hurricane Rita with disabilities for temporary housing that is accessible have been appropriately addressed, and to describe the procedures to be followed by Class Members who seek to have FEMA address any unmet accessibility needs.

- A. Dissemination of the Accessibility Notice: The Accessibility Notice shall be disseminated and publicized by FEMA during the Notice Period as follows:
- (1) FEMA's National Processing Service Center in Hyattsville, Maryland shall send one copy of the Accessibility Notice by United States mail to the last known address of each Applicant who: (1) was displaced by Hurricane Katrina or Hurricane Rita, (2) has been determined by FEMA to be eligible for temporary housing assistance, and (3) either has requested but not yet received, or is currently housed in, a FEMA-provided mobile home or trailer.
- (2) At the inception of the Notice Period, FEMA shall issue a press release that incorporates the substance of the Accessibility Notice, and shall distribute it to the media listed in Attachment B. In addition, throughout the Notice Period, FEMA shall include information contained in the Accessibility Notice on its website, in combination with relevant contact information for those seeking further information.
- (3) At the inception of the Notice Period and 90 days thereafter, FEMA shall provide a public service announcement that summarizes information contained in the Accessibility Notice to the radio and television stations listed in Attachment B.
- (4) Copies of the Accessibility Notice shall be available for distribution at each FEMA Disaster Recovery Center in Louisiana and Mississippi.

- (5) FEMA shall also ensure that the Accessibility Notice is provided to case management workers retained pursuant to the agreement between FEMA and the United Methodist Committee on Relief.
- Procedure To Be Followed By Class Members Who Seek To Have FEMA 5. Address Unmet Accessibility Needs: On or before the date upon which the Notice Period commences, FEMA shall establish a special toll-free number for each of the Joint Field Offices ("JFO") in Louisiana and Mississippi for the purpose of receiving calls made in response to the Accessibility Notice described above ("the special toll-free number"). The Louisiana and Mississippi JFO numbers shall be staffed initially with 30 persons and 10 persons, respectively, all of whom shall have some previous experience in conducting pre-placement interviews. The number of FEMA personnel staffing each special toll-free number may be increased or decreased by FEMA over time as warranted by the call volume received. The special toll-free number shall be staffed from 8:00 a.m. to 6:00 p.m. Monday through Saturday (except holidays) during the nine-month period following the commencement of the Notice Period. FEMA will inform individuals staffing its toll-free numbers, other than the special toll-free numbers, about the existence of the special toll-free numbers, and instruct such individuals to provide the special tollfree numbers to callers who may have accessibility needs. To receive the benefits of this Settlement Agreement, Class Members who seek to have FEMA address any unmet accessibility needs must contact FEMA at the special toll-free number no later than 180 days after the Notice Period ends, and request that FEMA address any unmet accessibility needs.

- 6. Responsibilities of FEMA Intake Personnel Receiving Responses to Accessibility Notice
- the special toll-free number (hereinafter the "Intake Personnel") shall obtain information sufficient to enable FEMA to determine whether each caller is a Class Member as defined in paragraph 2 of this Agreement, or is calling on behalf of a Class Member. For each caller who is a Class Member or who calls on behalf of a Class Member, the Intake Personnel shall use the screening questions in Attachment C to this Agreement to obtain information regarding the Class Member's disabilities, accessibility needs, and current housing arrangements that is sufficient to enable FEMA to determine what further actions, if any, FEMA needs to take to address each Class Member's accessibility needs. With assistance from plaintiffs' counsel, FEMA shall develop or modify existing screening protocols and criteria designed to enable the Intake Personnel to identify the accessibility needs of callers and the type of Unit and modifications necessary to address their accessibility needs. FEMA will also train the Intake Personnel on the use of the screening protocols and criteria and any modifications.
- **B.** Initial determinations by Intake Personnel: Based upon the information provided by callers, FEMA shall determine:
- (1) whether the Class Member currently resides in temporary housing that already satisfies or can be altered or modified to satisfy the Class Member's accessibility needs;
- (2) whether the Class Member's need for temporary housing that is accessible can be accommodated by providing rental assistance;
- (3) whether the Class Member's need for temporary housing that is accessible can be accommodated by Providing a Unit at a FEMA group site or commercial site that is available for immediate occupancy;

- (4) whether FEMA needs to Provide a Unit to address the Class Member's accessibility needs and, if so, the model, type and size of the Unit required, any modifications that must be made to the Unit, and the proposed site or location where the Unit is to be Installed; and
- (5) whether the Class Member needs financial assistance to pay for a hotel or some other type of temporary housing until such time as an accessible mobile home or trailer can be provided by FEMA.

Class members may not be required to accept or wait for housing that meets their accessibility needs, if they prefer non-accessible housing.

- C. Information to be provided by FEMA Intake Personnel to Class Members: FEMA's Intake Personnel shall advise each Class Member who calls the special toll-free number what further actions, if any, FEMA intends to take to address the Class Member's accessibility needs. The information described in this paragraph shall be given to the Class Member orally within five calendar days of the Class Member's call.
- (1) If FEMA determines that the temporary housing unit that is currently occupied by the Class Member can be altered or modified to satisfy the Class Member's accessibility needs, FEMA's Intake Personnel shall provide the Class Member with an estimated completion date which shall be:
  - (a) within 30 days after the Class Member contacts FEMA's Intake

    Personnel if the requested alterations or modifications are limited to
    the installation of an external ramp, external steps, or grab bars
    meeting UFAS standards;
  - (b) up to 60 days after the Class Member contacts FEMA's Intake

    Personnel for any other alterations or modifications, depending on

the nature of the alteration or modification sought and the volume of requests received by FEMA.

- (2) If FEMA determines that the Class Member's need for temporary housing that is accessible can be accommodated by providing rental assistance, FEMA's Intake Personnel shall provide the Class Member with information regarding the procedures to be followed in obtaining such assistance.
- (3) If FEMA determines that the Class Member's need for temporary housing that is accessible can be accommodated by Providing an existing mobile home or trailer at a FEMA group site or commercial site that is available for immediate occupancy, FEMA's Intake Personnel shall provide information regarding the location of the group site or commercial site and the type of unit(s) available for immediate occupancy at such site.
- (4) If FEMA determines that a mobile home, Park Model trailer, or other travel trailer should be Provided to address the Class Member's accessibility needs, FEMA's Intake Personnel shall advise the Class Member of the model, type and size of the mobile home or trailer to be Provided, and the proposed site or location where the mobile home or trailer is to be Installed. If the proposed site is on privately owned property, FEMA's Intake Personnel shall advise the Class Member that FEMA can install temporary housing on the site only if FEMA determines that the property is suitable for temporary housing. FEMA's Intake Personnel shall provide the Class Member with an estimated installation date for any mobile home or trailer to be Installed which may range up to 90 days after the Class Member contacts FEMA's Intake Personnel depending upon whether a Unit that meets the Class Member's accessibility needs is Currently in Stock, whether a site suitability determination is necessary before the Unit can be Installed, and the volume of requests received by FEMA. If FEMA subsequently determines that the requested

Unit cannot be Provided because the site is not suitable for temporary housing, FEMA's Intake Personnel shall notify the Class Member of FEMA's determination, and advise the Class Member of any alternative temporary housing available that satisfies the Class Member's accessibility needs.

- (5) If FEMA determines that a Class Member needs financial assistance to pay for a hotel or some other type of temporary housing until such time as an accessible mobile home or trailer can be Provided, FEMA's Intake Personnel shall make arrangements to provide a hotel or some other type of temporary housing assistance for Class Members who are waiting for an Accessible Unit and who have no other place to stay while they are waiting.
- (6) If FEMA denies a request for direct housing assistance or for modification of a Unit in whole or in part, and if FEMA has not already notified the caller in writing of such denial, FEMA shall, within 15 days thereafter, notify the caller in writing of such denial, the reasons for the denial, and the Complaint Procedures available under paragraph 8 of this Agreement.
- Personnel shall create a record reflecting: (1) the name, FEMA number, current and pre-disaster address, and current telephone number of each Applicant that contacts FEMA on the special toll-free number, (2) the date and subject matter of each such contact, and whether the contact was initiated by the caller or by FEMA (3) the type of disability, if any, identified by the Applicant, (4) a description of any accessibility needs identified by the Applicant, (5) FEMA's determination concerning whether the Applicant is a Class Member; (6) a description of what further actions, if any, FEMA intends to take to address each Class Member's accessibility needs; (7) the estimated completion date(s) for any such actions; and (8) any interim arrangements made for a hotel or other temporary housing that is accessible. The record created by FEMA's Intake Personnel shall

be updated to reflect any change in address or telephone number, the date, location, and type of Unit actually delivered, the date and type of any modifications completed, and the reasons for any significant unforeseen delays in processing the Class Member's request.

- 7. Provision of Accessible Units: FEMA shall notify the specially designated contractor selected pursuant to paragraph 11 of this Agreement of the estimated completion date provided to each Class Member under paragraph 6 above, and shall require that the Contractor use its best efforts to provide an Accessible Unit and complete all necessary modifications on or before the completion date specified.
- A. Information to Plaintiffs' Counsel: FEMA will provide Plaintiffs' Counsel with six (6) bimonthly reports, beginning sixty (60) days after the date of the Court's order approving the Settlement Agreement, and ending one year after approval, which shall contain the following information, separately for Louisiana and Mississippi:
  - (1) cumulative number of callers to the Special 800 number who were determined to be Class Members or calling on behalf of Class Members;
  - (2) cumulative number of households of callers FEMA determined to need interim hotel or rental assistance (assistance provided until an accessible unit becomes available) after their call, and cumulative number who received such assistance after their call;
  - (3) cumulative number of households of callers determined to need an accessible unit, other than the unit they were occupying at the time of the call;
  - (4) of the number above in paragraph 7.A.(3), the cumulative number of Accessible Units Provided to callers within 30, 60, 90, and over 90 days of the first call, respectively;
  - (5) cumulative number of households of callers determined to need modifications to a unit currently occupied;

- (6) of the above in paragraph 7.A.(5), the cumulative number of households of callers Provided with modifications within 30, 60, 90, and over 90 days of the first call, respectively;
- (7) cumulative number of households of callers determined to need rental assistance rather than an accessible unit;
- (8) of the above in paragraph 7.A.(7), cumulative number of households of callers who received rental assistance after their call.
- B. Notification by FEMA of Inability to Meet Time Frames: If, for reasons beyond the control of FEMA, it appears to FEMA that the timeframes described above in paragraph 6.C. will not be met for a significant number of Applicants, FEMA will notify Plaintiffs' counsel in writing, with an explanation of the reason why such timeframes will not be met. The Parties will then confer within ten (10) days of the receipt of such notice and attempt to reach agreement.
- 8. Complaint Procedure: Callers to the special toll-free number will be instructed to call the special toll-free number back if they have complaints. If their complaint is that a Unit or modifications provided them are different than what they were supposed to receive, or that they were not Provided within the estimated time frame, the Intake Personnel shall attempt to resolve the complaint. If their complaint is that they disagree with FEMA's actions or proposed actions under paragraphs 6 or 7 above, including a determination that they are not Class Members, they shall be informed that they may ask for a supervisor to review the determination and/or proposed action, and such a review will be provided. Personnel at the toll-free number shall attempt to resolve the complaint. If they have not resolved the complaint within ten days, personnel at the toll-free number shall refer the complaint to the Ombudsperson and provide the

complainant with the address and telephone number of Plaintiff's counsel.

- 9. Ombudsperson: FEMA shall appoint an Ombudsperson to serve as a liaison with Persons with Disabilities, and to resolve complaints referred to the Ombudsperon as set forth below. The Ombudsperson shall be responsible for monitoring and, as appropriate, recommending improvements to FEMA's efforts to address the special needs of people with disabilities. Insofar as necessary to ensure that accessible mobile homes and/or trailers are provided to Class Members on a timely basis, and subject to the oversight of FEMA's contracting officer, the Ombudsperson shall be authorized to provide direction to FEMA's contracting officer technical representative for the contract entered into with the special designated contractor selected by FEMA pursuant to paragraph 11 of this Agreement. Referrals to the Ombudsperson: (A) shall be made by FEMA Intake Personnel who, after consultation with supervisory officials, determine that they are unable to resolve a Class Member's complaint within ten days; or (B) may be made by attorneys or other representatives of advocacy/community groups that are providing assistance to Class Members.
- A. Information to Plaintiffs' Counsel: Beginning sixty (60) days after the date of the Court's order approving this Settlement Agreement, and ending one year after approval, FEMA shall provide Plaintiffs' Counsel with six (6) bimonthly reports, separately for Louisiana and Mississippi, which shall contain, for each complaint referred to or received by the Ombudsperson, the information recorded by FEMA's Intake Personnel regarding the complainant, pursuant to 6.D. above, and the subject of the complaint, for example, whether it concerned: (1) FEMA's determination that an individual caller is not a Class Member; (2) FEMA's provision of (or failure to provide) accessible temporary housing while the caller was waiting for an Accessible Unit; (3) a Unit that was not delivered, altered, or modified on or

before the estimated completion date; (4) a Unit that was not Provided in the location desired by the caller; or (5) a disagreement with the type of modification or Unit FEMA determined would be Provided. In addition, FEMA shall identify the number of complaints in each of the above categories that: (a) have been resolved to the satisfaction of the complainant; (b) have been resolved by FEMA in a manner that has not been accepted by the complainant; or (c) remain unresolved at the end of the reporting period. Upon request, FEMA shall provide to Plaintiffs' counsel full details of any complaint received by the Ombudsman, including, in addition to the above information, the date the Ombudsman received the complaint, how the complaint was resolved, the date of such resolution, and how to contact the complainant.

- 10. UFAS Trailers: FEMA shall require that a minimum of 10% of all Units ordered on or after June 1, 2006 for use as temporary housing for victims of Hurricane Katrina or Hurricane Rita shall comply with the Uniform Federal Accessibility Standards (UFAS) subject to any amendment, modification or waiver of any UFAS standard which may be adopted or approved by the Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD). At least 5% of all Units ordered on or after June 1, 2006 for use as temporary housing for victims of Hurricane Katrina or Hurricane Rita shall be UFAS-compliant Park Models with the remainder allocated as needed between UFAS-compliant mobile homes and travel trailers. If UFAS-compliant Units are not available or if there is any delay in the projected date for delivery of UFAS-compliant trailers, and with the prior written consent of plaintiffs' counsel, FEMA may instead satisfy the requirements of this paragraph by ordering accessible mobile homes or Park Model trailers which do not satisfy all UFAS requirements but can be altered or modified to accommodate the accessibility needs of Class Members.
  - 11. Contractor for Class Members: To ensure that Accessible Units are Provided

on a timely basis to Class Members who respond to the Accessibility Notice, FEMA shall retain a separate designated contractor for the exclusive purpose of providing all materials, labor, equipment and support services such as required permitting and local inspections for installation of UFAS compliant manufactured homes and travel trailers. FEMA shall require that the contractor selected for this purpose have personnel and resources sufficient to enable the contractor to install UFAS-compliant mobile homes and trailers within the time periods specified in paragraph 6.C. above. FEMA shall award a contract conforming to the requirements of this paragraph no later than 30 days after the Court enters an order finally approving this Agreement.

- sites or emergency group sites operated by FEMA in Louisiana and Mississippi but not including certain sites which are to be closed on or before September 30, 2006, or which are designated for the exclusive use of individuals none of whom are disabled (hereinafter the "Group Sites").

  Based on the results of the survey, FEMA will make whatever improvements are necessary to ensure that: (A) the common areas of the Group Sites comply with UFAS requirements; (B) at least 5% of the Units located in each Group Site containing 20 or more units (with the exception of the Group Site at Groom Road, known as Renaissance Village) are Accessible Units; and (C) at least 5% of the aggregate total number of Units located on Group Sites are Accessible Units. FEMA shall not be required to involuntarily displace any person residing in a Group Site at the time this Agreement is executed to comply with these requirements.
- 13. Enforcement of Settlement Agreement: If any Class Member alleges that Defendants have failed to comply with any provision of this Agreement; counsel for the Class Member shall serve a written Notice upon Defendants' Counsel which shall specify which paragraph(s) of this Agreement have allegedly been violated, shall describe all of the facts and

circumstances supporting the Class Member's claim that Defendants have violated this Agreement, and shall notify Defendants' Counsel that the Class Member intends to seek an order from the District Court to enforce compliance with the Agreement. The Defendants shall have a period of thirty days after receipt of such Notice to take appropriate action to resolve any claims of noncompliance. If such claims are not resolved within that thirty day period or if, prior to the expiration of such 30-day period, counsel for Defendants advise Plaintiffs' Counsel that no further action will be taken by Defendants, the Class Member may apply to the District Court for an order compelling compliance with this Agreement. If Defendants allege that Plaintiffs have failed to comply with any provision in this Agreement, the same procedures shall apply.

It is understood and agreed by the Parties that the time frames specified in paragraphs 6.C.(1) and 6.C.(4) of this Agreement are estimates and not deadlines. Any alleged failure by Defendants to Install an Accessible Unit within the period prescribed in paragraph 6.C.(4) of this Agreement, or to alter or modify a temporary housing unit within the period prescribed in paragraph 6.C.(1), is not, by itself, a violation of this Agreement, and shall not, standing alone, provide a basis for any relief under this paragraph. Instead, any such claims shall be resolved in accordance with the procedures prescribed in paragraph 14 below.

14. Applications for Further Relief: If any Class Member alleges that FEMA has failed to Install an Accessible Unit within the period prescribed in paragraph 6.C.(4) of this Agreement, has failed to alter or modify a temporary housing unit within the period prescribed in paragraph 6.C.(1), has denied him or her an Accessible Unit or modifications to make a unit accessible, has denied his or her desired location of a trailer, or has failed to provide assistance for temporary accessible housing until an Accessible Unit can be provided, counsel for the Class Member shall serve a written notice upon Defendants' Counsel which shall notify Defendants'

Counsel that the Class Member intends to seek further relief from the District Court and shall describe all of the facts and circumstances supporting the Class Member's claim. The Defendants shall have a period of thirty days after receipt of such Notice to take appropriate action to resolve the dispute, except in case of an emergency that poses a serious threat to the health or safety of a Class Member.

If the dispute is not resolved within that thirty day period or if, prior to the expiration of such 30-day period, counsel for Defendants advise Plaintiffs' Counsel that no further action will be taken by Defendants, or in the case of an emergency that poses a serious threat to his or her health or safety, the Class Member may apply for an order from the District Court compelling FEMA to provide an Accessible Unit to the Class Member, to alter or modify the Class Member's existing temporary housing unit to make it accessible, to Provide an Accessible Unit at a specific location, and/or to provide assistance for temporary accessible housing until an Accessible Unit can be provided. If the Court determines that FEMA has failed to Provide an Accessible Unit to the Class Member, to alter or modify the Class Member's existing temporary housing unit, to provide an Accessible Unit at a specific location, and/or to provide assistance for temporary accessible housing until an Accessible Unit can be provided, and further finds that such failure(s) violate Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act, 29 U.S.C. § 794(a), the Fair Housing Act, 42 U.S.C. § 3604, or the Stafford Act, 42 U.S.C. § 5170 et seq., the Court may enter an appropriate order granting further relief to the Class Member.

15. Attorney's Fees: Defendants agree to pay plaintiffs' counsel \$310,000 for attorneys' fees and expenses. Except as provided in the last sentence of this paragraph, payment of this amount shall represent full and final payment of any and all claims for attorneys' fees and costs related to this action. Plaintiffs explicitly waive any right to seek, and shall not be entitled to

recover any additional attorneys' fees or expenses for any time expended or to be expended by counsel monitoring compliance with this Agreement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, it is understood and agreed by the Parties that, in the event of a judicial determination that Defendants have failed to discharge any obligation under this Agreement, plaintiffs reserve the right to apply to the Court for an additional award of attorneys' fees and expenses directly relating to plaintiffs' application for such a judicial determination.

- 16. Non-Admission of Liability: This Agreement does not constitute an admission of the merits of any position taken by any party to this litigation, nor of any liability by Defendants for the violation of any law, statute, regulation, or policy. Defendants expressly deny any wrongdoing or liability. In addition, this Agreement may not be introduced or used or admitted in any other judicial, arbitral, administrative, investigative or other proceeding of any kind or nature whatsoever as evidence of discrimination, retaliation, or any violation of the Rehabilitation Act, the United States Constitution, the common law of any jurisdiction, or any other federal, state or local law, statute, ordinance, regulation, rule or executive order, or any obligation or duty at law or in equity.
- Parties in this Agreement are contingent upon final approval of the Agreement by the District Court in accordance with the requirements of Rule 23(e)(1)(C) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. In the event that final approval of the Settlement Agreement is not obtained or the Settlement Agreement is deemed null and void, nothing herein shall be deemed to waive any of the Class's claims or the Defendants' objections and defenses, and this Settlement Agreement shall not be admissible in any court regarding the propriety of class certification or regarding any other issue or subject of this case.

- 18. Settlement Hearing: Promptly after execution of this Agreement, but in no event later than ten days after this Agreement is signed by counsel for all Parties, the Parties will submit this Agreement (together with its Exhibits) to the Court and will apply for entry of an order (hereinafter the "Initial Order") in which the Court:
  - (A) Preliminarily approves the terms of the settlement embodied in this Agreement as being fair, reasonable and adequate to the Class;
  - (B) Provisionally certifies the class for settlement purposes only;
  - (C) Approves the form of a Notice to Class Members ("Class Notice") informing them of the claims asserted in this action, a summary of the general terms and conditions of this Agreement, and of the date of the hearing set by the Court to determine whether the settlement is fair, reasonable and adequate;
  - (D) Directs FEMA to disseminate the Class Notice to the Class Members by publication or such other means as the Court finds to be reasonable and in conformance with the requirements of Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, the Constitution of the United States, and any other applicable law;
  - (E) Schedules a Settlement Hearing to be held by the Court to determine if the proposed settlement of the litigation as contained in this Agreement should be approved as fair, reasonable and adequate and whether the Judgment approving the settlement should be entered;
  - (F) Provides that any objections to (i) the proposed settlement contained in this Agreement; or (ii) entry of the Judgment approving the settlement shall be heard only if, on or before a date specified in the Class Notice, persons making objections file and serve on all Parties notice of their intention to appear (which will set forth each objection and the basis therefore) and copies of any papers in support of their position as set forth in the Order Notice; and
  - (G) Provides that the Settlement Hearing may, from time to time and without further notice to the Class, be continued or adjourned by order of the District Court.

The Parties will request that, after notice is given, the Court hold the Settlement Hearing and finally approve the settlement of the litigation as set forth in this Agreement.

19. Release/Bar of Claims: In consideration of the commitments contained herein, and the benefits provided or to be provided hereunder, this Settlement Agreement shall fully

resolve, extinguish, and finally and forever bar, and the Representative Plaintiffs and other Class Members hereby release all claims described in paragraph 3 above, except as expressly provided in paragraphs 13 and 14 above. Upon final approval by the District Court, this Settlement Agreement shall be fully binding on, and fully extinguish and release the claims of, all Class Members and the Representative Plaintiffs, and may be pled as a full and complete defense to any subsequent action or other proceeding involving any person or party that arises out of the claims released and discharged by this Settlement Agreement.

- 20. Dismissal of Claims/ Retention of Jurisdiction: Upon final approval by the District Court of this Agreement pursuant to Rule 23(e) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, the Parties hereby stipulate and agree to entry of a Final Judgment in the form annexed hereto as Attachment D dismissing all of plaintiffs' claims in this action with prejudice, except that the Court shall retain jurisdiction to enforce compliance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement in accordance with paragraph 13, and to hear and determine any applications for additional relief filed by any Class Member pursuant to paragraph 14 of this Agreement.
- 21. Reports to the Court: The Parties shall file a joint status report with the District Court six (6) months after final approval of this Agreement advising the Court of their progress in implementing the terms of the Agreement. The Parties shall file a final report when all of the Agreement's terms have been met and, upon the filing of such report, the Court's jurisdiction to enforce this Agreement shall terminate.
- 22. Rule of Construction: The Parties through their counsel have negotiated the terms of this Agreement. Any rule of construction providing that ambiguities are to be resolved against the drafting party shall not be employed in the interpretation of this Agreement. This Agreement shall be construed as if drafted by both Parties.

- 23. Waiver of Provisions: No provisions hereof can be waived unless done so expressly and in writing. Express waiver of any one provision shall not be deemed a waiver of any other provision.
- 24. Entire Agreement: This Agreement contains the entire agreement between the Parties, and all previous understandings, agreements, and communications prior to the date hereof, whether express or implied, oral or written, relating to the subject matter of this Agreement, are fully and completely extinguished and superseded by this Agreement. This Agreement shall not be altered, amended, modified, or otherwise changed except by a writing duly signed by the Parties hereto.
- Agreement as a compromise measure to terminate this action and resolve all issues of controversy between them. The terms of this Agreement, its substance, the negotiations leading up to the Agreement, and the information exchanged by the Parties in the course of those negotiations may not be offered, taken, construed or introduced as evidence for any purpose, either in this action or in any pending or subsequent proceeding of any nature, except that in any subsequent action involving the enforcement, construction, or application of this Agreement, a copy of the Agreement may be presented to verify its contents.
- 26. Headings: The headings in this Agreement are for the convenience of the Parties only and shall not limit, expand, modify, or aid in the interpretation or construction of this Agreement.

27. Notices under this Agreement: Copies of all notices required to be given to Plaintiffs' Counsel under this Agreement shall be sent by e-mail, to the following persons:

Nell Hahn

Advocacy Center

Director of Litigation and Systems Advocacy

E-mail: nhahn@advocacyla.org

Melissa Losch

Advocacy Center

Managing Staff Attorney

E-mail: mlosch@advocacyla.org

Cary LaCheen

National Center for Law and Economic Justice

New York

E-mail: lacheen@nclej.org

Copies of all notices required to be given to Defendants' Counsel under this Agreement shall be sent by e-mail, to the following persons:

Diane Kelleher Civil Division Department of Justice Diane.Kelleher@usdoi.gov

Darren Wall
Office of Chief Counsel
Federal Emergency Management Agency
Darren.Wall@dhs.gov

- 28. No Third-Party Rights: This Settlement Agreement is not intended to, and does not, create any third-party beneficiary rights or any other rights of any kind in any person, group, or entity other than the Parties.
- 29. Governing Law: The Parties agree that the validity, construction, and enforcement of this Settlement Agreement shall be governed by federal law.

- 30. Parties' Obligation to Defend Settlement Agreement: In the event this

  Settlement Agreement is challenged administratively or judicially, the Representative Plaintiffs,

  Class Counsel and the Defendants shall fully defend its lawfulness.
- 31. Privacy Act Information: Certain information to be provided to plaintiffs under paragraphs 6.D and 9 of this Agreement may be subject to the Privacy Act of 1974, 5 U.S.C. § 552a. In accordance with the requirements of the Privacy Act, the Parties will request that the Court enter a Privacy Act Protective Order in the form prescribed in Attachment E hereto. Each person designated by plaintiffs' counsel to receive information subject to the Privacy Act shall be required to execute an Acknowledgment as required by the Privacy Act Protective Order.
- 32. Binding Agreement: Undersigned counsel represent that they have the requisite authority to enter into this Settlement Agreement. Subject to final approval by the District Court and any applicable law, this Settlement Agreement shall be binding on the Parties and their successors, assigns, representatives, and trustees.

Execution: This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall 33.

be deemed an original, and all of which together shall be deemed one and the same instrument.

AGREED this 17 day of August, 2006.

Director of Litigation and Systems Advocacy

Advocacy Center

600 Jefferson Street Suite 812

Lafayette LA 70501

Telephone: (337) 237-7380 Facsimile: (337) 237-0486 E-mail: nhahn@advocacyla.org

Attorneys for Plaintiffs

National Center for Law and Economic

Justice

275 Seventh Avenue, Suite 1506

New York, NY 10001-6708 Telephone: (212) 633-6967 Facsimile: (212) 633-6371 E-mail: lacheen@nclej.org

Attorneys for Plaintiffs

PETER KEISLER

Assistant Attorney General

JIM LETTEN

United States Attorney

GLENN K. SCHREIBER

Assistant United States Attorney

JOSEPH LOBUE

**Assistant Director** 

Federal Programs Branch

DIANE KELLEHER

Trial Attorney

Department of Justice

Civil Division, Room 7318

Post Office Box 883

Washington, D.C. 20044

Telephone: (202) 514-4775

Facsimile: (202) 616-8470

E-mail: Diane.Kelleher@usdoj.gov

Attorneys for Defendants

DARREN WALL

Trial Attorney

Office of Chief Counsel

Federal Emergency Management Agency

500 C St., SW

**Room 840** 

Washington D.C.

Telephone: (202) 646-4611 Facsimile: (202) 646-4536 E-mail: Darren.Wall@dhs.gov Attorneys for Defendants

## List of Attachments

Attachment A – Accessibility Notice

Attachment B – Media Lists

Attachment C – FEMA Screening Questions

 $Attachment \ D-Proposed \ Final \ Judgment$ 

Attachment E – Privacy Act Protective Order

ATTACHMENT A

## Attachment A – Accessibility Notice

This notice is for people who have a disability or live with someone who has a disability. Usually a person with a disability is being treated by a doctor. To have a disability, you must have trouble:

- walking
- seeing
- hearing
- speaking
- breathing
- learning
- working, or
- doing another major activity.

A disability does not include short-term problems like a broken leg. It also does not include a problem that is corrected, like someone who can see well with glasses.

If you or someone you live with has a disability, you may be able to get an accessible trailer from FEMA. Depending on the type of disability, you may be able to get a trailer with—

- A ramp
- Enough turning space for a wheelchair
- An accessible shower or tub
- Grab bars in showers, tubs, and near toilets

If you or someone you live with has a disability and needs an accessible trailer, call FEMA at 1-800-XXX-XXXX, from 8:00 a.m. to 6:00 p.m., Monday to Saturday. Tell FEMA what kind of disability you have and what you need to make a trailer accessible.

After you call, FEMA will tell you if it will

- Give you an accessible trailer
- Make changes in the trailer you have
- Help you find another place to live

FEMA will also tell you how long it will take. It may take FEMA up to 90 days to deliver a trailer, or longer if you don't have a suitable place to put it. If you already have a trailer, it may take up to 60 days to make the changes you need.

If you do not get an accessible trailer within these times, or you do not agree with FEMA's decision, please call 1-800-XXX-XXXX and FEMA will tell you how to obtain further assistance.

To obtain an accessible trailer within the times in this notice, you must contact FEMA at 1-800-XXX-XXXX before [date].

ATTACHMENT B

ATTACHMENT C

## **FEMA Screening Questions**

Applicant calls the 800 number in response to the flyer: IF: THEN: Preamble (to be read to applicants): I would like to ask you some questions to find out what you need from FEMA. You have stated that you or a household member has a disability such as long-term physical or health problems, mental health issues, or learning problems that make it hard to do certain things. You do not have to answer these questions, but if you don't answer them, we may not know how to help you or properly determine what you need. FEMA will keep the information you give us confidential. Who in your household has a disability? 1. Name and age of person in the household who has the disability: 2. Relationship to you: 3. What type of disability is it? 4. Describe the disability: 5. Does the person use any type of mobility aid (such as a wheelchair, cane, or walker)? 6. What kind? If a wheelchair, is it a manual wheelchair, a power chair, or a scooter? . 7. Is the mobility aid used at all times or only part of the time? Explain: 8. What do you or the household member need? Check all that apply: 9. o Ramp with handrails to entrance of trailer or hotel o Sturdy steps with handrails on steps at entrance to trailer or

hotel

o Raised toilet seat

o Doorways wide enough for a wheelchair

o Grab bars around toilet	
o Accessible (roll-in) shower	
o Bathtub with low sides	•
o Grab bars in tub or shower	
o Bath bench or shower chair (specify)	_
o Hand held shower controls	
o Cut-out area under bathroom sink so chair can pull under	
o Rooms big enough for wheelchair and wheelchair turn space	
o Switches and controls reachable from wheelchair	
o Accessible kitchen appliances (leg space under sink, lower stoves,	
counters, cabinets etc.)	
o Visual alarms and notification devices	
Explain:	
o More room for equipment (e.g., hospital bed)	
Explain:	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
o All electric trailer	•
o Other	•
Explain in detail:	
Are there other things you or a household member need in a trailer or hotel room	because of a
disability? Explain:	
How many people in your household will be living in the trailer or hotel?	·
Adult Children	

How many bedrooms do you need in a trailer?
Do you own property with functioning utilities (electric, water, sewer) where
a trailer could be placed?
If so, do you want a trailer on that property?
If no, would you be willing to live in a commercial or group park?
For internal FEMA use only
Applicant needs a trailer with the following accessibility features:
o Ramp with handrails to entrance of trailer
o Sturdy steps with handrails on steps at entrance to trailer
o Doorways wide enough for a wheelchair
o Raised toilet seat
o Grab bars around toilet
o Accessible (roll-in) shower
o Bathtub with low sides
o Grab bars in tub or shower
o Bath bench or shower chair (specify)
o Hand held shower controls
o Cut-out area under lavatory so chair can pull under
o Rooms big enough for wheelchair and wheelchair turn space
o Switches and controls reachable from wheelchair
o Accessible kitchen appliances (leg space under sink, lower stoves,
counters, cabinets etc.)

o Visual alarms and notification devices:	
o More room for equipment (e.g., hospital bed)	
Explain:	
o All electric trailer	
o Other	
Explain in detail	
Applicant needs a trailer park with the following accessibility features:	
o Paved surface from parking area to ramp or stairs to trailer	
o Level paved landing at bottom of ramp	
o Accessible path of travel (e.g., paved surfaces) to laundry room	ns, public telephones,
public transit stops, other trailers, etc.	
o Front loading washing machines	
o Accessible paths of travel in and out of the trailer park and with	hin park
o Other issues (explain)	
Was applicant provided with another trailer on an interim basis?	
Applicant was provided with a trailer on	
The model and size of the trailer provided was	
The following modifications were made to the trailer on	1 Cul
An accessible trailer was not provided to the applicant within	days of the request for the
following reason:	
<b>-4-</b>	

Applicant should be provided with the following trailer model(s), which provide the above accessibility features:

[Caseworkers need a complete list of specific (available) trailer models, including numbers of bedrooms]

Applicant needs a hotel room with the following accessibility features:

- o Wheelchair accessible, without roll-in shower
- o Wheelchair accessible, with roll-in shower
- o Visual alarms, notification devices and TDD phones (for Deaf persons)
- o Other (explain):

ATTACHMENT D